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BACKGROUND: 
 
On January 10, 2000, Peoples Gas Light & Coke Company (“Peoples” or “Com-
pany”) was sent a letter by the Illinois Commerce Commission’s (“Commission”) 
Pipeline Safety Staff (“Staff”) informing it of an apparent violation of the Minimum 
Federal Safety Standards for transportation of natural gas. Specifically, the letter 
advised Peoples that it was in violation of 49 CFR §192.723, which requires natu-
ral gas operators to conduct distribution system leakage surveys at intervals of 
every five years. The leakage surveys are also referred to as “inside safety in-
spections” or “ISI”. The federal requirement (§192.723(b)(2)) is as follows 
 

A leakage survey with leak detector equipment must be conducted 
outside business districts as frequently as necessary, but at least 
once every 5 calendar years at intervals not exceeding 63 months. 
However, for cathodically unprotected distribution lines subject to 
§192.465(e) on which electrical surveys for corrosion are impracti-
cal, a leakage survey must be conducted at least once every 3 
calendar years at intervals not exceeding 39 months. 

 
Enforcement of the Minimum Federal Safety Standards is granted to the Com-
mission under its agreement with the U.S. Department of Transportation Office of 
Pipeline Safety pursuant to 49 USC §60105. This agreement grants states the 
regulatory jurisdiction over the standards and practices of intrastate natural gas 
operators. Under the agreement the State of Illinois agrees to adopt all Minimum 
Federal Safety Standards, which are adopted under 83 Ill. Adm. Code 590. 
 

 



Leakage surveys must be conducted on all natural gas distribution main and ser-
vice lines ending downstream at the outlet of a consumer’s gas meter. Peoples 
has failed to conduct the necessary leakage surveys on a very high number of 
the service lines it owns that terminate service at the outlet of the meter located 
inside a residential customer’s premises. Peoples has reported that it has over 
364,000 inside meters, all of which require a leak survey to be done every 5 
years.  
 
On September 14, 2001, Staff presented to the Commissioners and Executive 
Director a memo outlining Staff’s course of action with Peoples in order to re-
solve this problem. Peoples had committed to catching up on the backlog of 
inside leak surveys in a five-year period as requested by Staff (by mid-2005). It is 
Staff’s opinion that Peoples will not meet its commitment and will remain out of 
compliance with applicable standards. 
 
CURRENT STATUS: 
 
Peoples has advised Staff of the progress it has made on inside meter inspec-
tions during 2004 and 2005, and the numbers indicate that the Company started 
2004 with over 150,000 meters to inspect to meet the federal safety standards, 
including over 80,000 that were overdue from prior years. Reported numbers of 
inspections each month during 2004 and through May 10, 2005, indicate that 
Peoples has not been on schedule to complete either the backlog that existed at 
the end of 2004 or the inspections due in 2005. 
 
In addition, it appears that Peoples has well over 87,000 inside gas meters that 
have never had a leak survey completed. Peoples' rate of inspections to bring 
themselves in compliance with the law would leave them further out of compli-
ance with the law as of the first of 2006 than they were at the end of 2004. 
 
At a meeting with Staff on December 5, 2003, Peoples management described a 
more aggressive approach to completing the surveys. The plan included adding 
additional employees during summer months to work during evening and week-
end hours to gain access to residences. This effort has helped complete inside 
surveys, but, even with this extra effort, Peoples’ announced goal of having all 
delinquent surveys completed by January 2006 appears to be unattainable, and 
no goal they set at this point appears to be realistic or attainable. 
 
Staff met with Peoples on November 5, 2004.  Peoples informed Staff at this 
meeting that it was not going to meet previous promises of compliance, and pre-
sented to Staff a new approach that Peoples began to follow in January 2005. On 
March 30, 2005, Peoples provided an updated plan that it would implement after 
April 4, 2005.  (See Attachment A.)  It is Staff’s opinion that the new plan is not 
sufficiently dissimilar from prior proposals to warrant further delays in formal ac-
tion. 

 



 
Peoples’ most recent full status report on its backlog, dated May 10, 2005, pro-
vided the following information as of January 1, 2005.  The information indicates 
87,797 meters were out of compliance on January 1, 2005.  There were 43,272 
meters that were inspected in 2000 and be due to be inspected again in 2005.  
Based on this information provided by Peoples, it will need to complete over 
130,000 inspections during 2005 in order to bring itself into compliance, and, as 
of May 10, 2005, Peoples has done just under 34,000 inspections during 2005. 
 
 

 ICC Data Request Relative to ISI Comple-
tion History  

     

Summary of Service Pipe Inspections as 
of 1/1/05  

Year of Most Recent 
Inspection 

# of Service 
Pipes in Classi-
fication  

2004 92,974  
2003 50,192  
2002 41,375  
2001 49,360  
2000 43,272  

Pre - 2000 87,797  
Total service pipes 
for residential inside 
safety inspections 364,970  
   

 
 
INSIDE FACILITIES 
 
Installations of facilities inside consumer premises were common practice when 
gas systems were being installed many years ago. Primary reasons for this in-
cluded the close proximity of buildings and urban space limitations.  
 
CONCLUSION 
 
Peoples is out of compliance with federal pipeline safety requirements at 49 CFR 
§192.723 regarding inside inspections of residential services and adopted by the 
Commission under 83 Ill. Adm. Code 590 and has been out of compliance for 
over five years: Peoples needs to inspect an average of over 70,000 inside me-
ters every year to meet inspection guidelines.  That has not occurred yet since 
Staff began working worked cooperatively with Peoples in an attempt to allow the 
Company to achieve compliance within a reasonable timeframe.  The Company 

 



has failed to keep previous commitments they have made to Staff and current 
plans and inspection rates will not bring the Company into compliance. 
 
POSSIBLE COMMISSION ACTION 
 
The Commission can issue an order directing the Company to show cause why 
civil penalties should not be imposed for failure to comply. Were that option to be 
pursued, a docketed case is initiated and hearings are held, with the Administra-
tive Law Judge making a final recommendation to the Commission. 
 
The Federal Pipeline Safety Act and the Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety Act allow for 
a civil penalty of not more than $50,000 for each violation. A separate violation 
occurs for each day the violation continues. The maximum civil penalty for a re-
lated series of violations is $1,000,000. In determining the amount of a civil 
penalty, the Commission must consider the following: 
 

1. the nature, circumstances, and gravity of the violation; 
 
2. with respect to the violator, the degree of culpability , and history of 

prior violation, the ability to pay, and any effect on ability to continue 
doing business; 

 
3. good faith in attempting to comply; and 
 
4. other matter that justice requires. 
 

Under both the Federal Act and the Illinois Act, the Commission may compro-
mise the amount of a civil penalty and can even waive the penalty in lieu of 
corrective actions taken by the gas system operator. Staff has always considered 
penalties as the last resort for obtaining compliance, and refrains from pursuing 
formal citation orders if the operator were willing to take appropriate corrective 
action.  
   
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Staff recommends the issuance of a citation by the Commission ordering the 
Company to show cause why civil penalties should not be imposed for failure to 
comply with the minimum safety standards.  
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